1959

# J. Seal v. Alma E. Powell and Margeret E. Powell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 4, 1957, the defendants executed a document at Salt Lake City, Utah, offering to pay Union Interchange, Inc., a foreign corporation with principal offices at Los Angeles, California, the sum of \$1,350.00 for certain advertising services three months after defendants' advertisement for the sale of a motel for \$105,000.00 was completed and sent to real estate brokers and potential buyers throughout the nation. This offer was accepted by the Union Interchange, Inc., at Los Angeles, California, on

December 9, 1957. Plaintiff contends that a valid contract existed between defendants and the Union Interchange, Inc., and that the latter fully performed said agreement. Defendants did not pay anything on the advertising agreement referred to, and plaintiff as assignee of Union Interchange, Inc. brought this action for breach of contract. Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that no action could be maintained for the services in question because the party rendering said services was not licensed to act as a real estate broker pursuant to provisions of Secs. 61-2-1, 61-2-2, and 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953. The State of Utah through its Attorney General filed an amicus curiae brief in the matter which cited only the provisions of our statutes just mentioned. Defendant's motion was argued on December 23, 1958, pursuant to a stipulation filed with the lower court at that time which set forth the pertinent facts upon which defendants' Motion Dismiss was based (R 10, 11). On April 14, 1959, the Honorable Martin M. Larson made and entered an order granting defendants' motion and dismissing plaintiff's complaint with prejudice. Plaintiff appeals from that order.

As set forth in the stipulation, plaintiff's assignor publishes two publications in which advertisements are carried and their business consists of advertising businesses and income property on a national basis. The contracts are performed by advertising the sales information and distributing it nationally in Union's two publication which are published in Los Angeles, California. Plaintiff contends that no real estate broker's license is required to engage in such activities. Defendants claim that such activity is unlawful without such a license. To obtain the license in question the party seeking the same must, among other things, (1)

furnish a \$1,000.00 bond conditioned on conducting his business in accordance with Chapter 2 of Title 61, U.C.A. 1953, (2) furnish character references of Utah property owners who have know him for at least three years, (3) pass an examination on subjects related to real property transactions.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE ACTIVITIES OF PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR DO NOT COME WITHIN THE MEANING OF A "REAL ESTATE BROKER" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SEC. 61-2-2, U.C.A. 1953, AND CONSEQUENTLY SECTIONS 61-2-1 AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, ARE NOT APPLICABLE TO THE CONTRACT IN QUESTION.

### POINT II

SECS. 61-2-1, 61-2-2, AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, IMPOSE AN UNREASONABLE BURDEN ON INTER-STATE COMMERCE AS APPLIED TO PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR AND ARE THEREFORE TO THAT EXTENT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

### POINT III

SECS. 61-2-1, 61-2-2, AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION TO THE EXTENT THEY REQUIRE PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR TO OBTAIN A REAL ESTATE BROKER'S LICENSE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

### POINT IV

SECS. 61-2-1, 61-2-2, AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, VIOLATE THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION AND ARE THEREFORE UNCON-

STITUTIONAL TO THE EXTENT THEY REQUIRE PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR TO OBTAIN A REAL ESTATE BROKER'S LICENSE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE ACTIVITIES OF PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR DO NOT COME WITHIN THE MEANING OF A "REAL ESTATE BROKER" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SEC. 61-2-2, U.C.A. 1953, AND CONSEQUENTLY SECTIONS 61-2-1 AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, ARE NOT APPLICABLE TO THE CONTRACT IN QUESTION.

This court has previously considered the proper scope of the provisions of Sec. 61-2-2, U.C.A. 1953, in the case of *Anderson v. Johnson*, (1945) 108 U 417, 160 Pac(2d) 725, in holding that one who assisted a real estate broker in obtaining the listing of a farm was not a real estate broker or a real estate salesman within the meaning of said section and failure by him to obtain such a license did not bar his recovery on an agreement with the real estate broker to pay him for such assistance. The concurring opinion in that case pointed out that to take this section literally would cover anyone who was in any way connected with a transaction involving real estate, such as the abstractor or a stenographer in the real estate office. It was there stated:

"A reading of the statutes regulating real estate brokers makes it apparent they were enacted for the benefit of the public to protect them from dishonest and unscrupulous real estate agents. Such protection of the public is not needed from the casual or remote influence of a stenographer or of a person who introduces a real estate broker to one



who may wish to deal with him. Neither the stenographer nor the man who introduces the broker in the examples I have mentioned are active participants in any contract affecting real estate or any liability of the persons entering into such contracts or listings. The dealings which the statutes aim to protect the public in are those which result in legal liabilities between the parties. Nothing the stenographer or the man who introduces the real estate broker does has that effect. This is true even though the real estate broker contracts to pay the man who introduces him a part of his commission in the event he makes a sale."

In the case of *Matthews-Pelton, Inc. v. LeBlanc* (1930) 13 L.A. APP 596, 126 SO 449, it was held that one who assists a licensed broker to procure an offer to purchase the property of another does not thereby become a real estate broker so as to be prevented from ~~receiving~~ covering promised compensation.

If one who personally introduces a prospect to a broker is not required to obtain a license of the type in question, afortiori one ought not to need such a license to make an introduction through printed advertisements mailed to brokers and prospective purchasers.

Although the wording of our statute is broader than the comparable statute of the State of Wisconsin, appellant believes that the reasoning of the Wisconsin Supreme Court in the case of *Howard v. Heinig*, 191 Wisc. 166, 210 NW 414, should be applied to this case. There the court held that one who is hired on a commission basis to put on a sales campaign and arrange for advertising of real estate was not required to have a broker's license since he was not engaged in negotiating any actual sales. The

case of *Black Forest Realty & Investment Co. v. Clarke* (1929) 86 Colo 454, 282 P 878, is to the same effect. The agreement in question here required plaintiff's assignor only to disseminate information which would tend to interest prospective buyers in business property of its customers and acquaint them with an opportunity to negotiate for the purchase of such property. Plaintiff's assignor did not agree to, nor did it, enter into any negotiation in any manner between these prospective sellers or any others and parties indicating an interest in purchasing the same.

An annotation on the question "Who is a real estate agent, salesman, or broker within the meaning of license statutes?" is found in 56 A.L.R. 540 and supplemented in 167 A.L.R. 774. None of the cases discussed there, however, are too helpful on the point in issue, and appellant believes that this is so because plaintiff's assignor was engaged solely in the advertising and publishing business which is separate and distinct from the real estate business.

It is evident that the word "advertise" as used in Sec. 61-2-1, U.C.A. 1953, does not refer to advertising as a business but is limited to advertising that one is acting as a real estate broker or salesman. The word "advertise" is also used twice in Sec. 61-2-2, U.C.A. 1953. There it is first used with respect to advertising *options* on real estate or improvements thereon, which is not applicable in our case since no options on defendants' real estate or improvements were advertised in the case at bar. The second usage there is the same as that of the preceding section. Otherwise, appellant's assignor can only be brought within the provisions of that section by means of the words "or assists or directs in the procuring of contracts . . .

calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing, or renting of any real estate." As noted above in the Anderson case, it was not the legislative intent that this should be applied literally, and since this is so and appellant's assignor was even further removed than the plaintiff in that case, the sections of our statute in question ought not to be applicable to this case.

## POINT II

SECS. 61-2-1, 61-2-2, AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, IMPOSE AN UNREASONABLE BURDEN ON INTER-STATE COMMERCE AS APPLIED TO PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR AND ARE THEREFORE TO THAT EXTENT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

In the case of *State of Utah v. Salt Lake Tribune Publishing Company*, 68 U 187, 249 Pac 474, this court held that it was unconstitutional for a state to prohibit the publication of advertisements for the sale of cigarettes and related products in a newspaper circulated in interstate commerce where the sale of such products in the state of publication is restricted but not prohibited. There this court said:

"If it is lawful, therefore, to deal in and to sell cigarettes, why is it not lawful to inform those who may legally purchase an article where they may do so? It may be true that the state within its police power may, as a matter of regulation, seek to minimize the sale of an article, the use of which it may deem injurious to the public health; and if it may do that, it may, perhaps, regulate or prohibit the advertisement of such an article. Where, however, as is the case here, the article in question is an article of commerce which is protected by the interstate commerce clause of the federal Const-

tution, it may well be doubted whether the state can interfere with the sale of an article which is so protected. The conclusion, therefore, seems irresistible that, in view that the advertisement published by the Salt Lake Tribune in and of itself constitutes interstate commerce and where the State of Utah could not interfere, and further that the article likewise was protected both by the laws of Utah permitting its sale and to the extent that the article was shipped into the state in original packages was also protected from interference by the state, the defendant was clearly within its legal rights in publishing the advertisement, and that the statute in question constitutes an undue interference with interstate commerce and therefore cannot be upheld."

There the following quotation from *Post Printing and Publishing Co. v. Brewster* (DC) 246 Fed. 321, was cited with approval:

"The sale of cigarettes in the State of Missouri, where the newspapers of plaintiff are published, is ~~A LAWFUL BUSINESS AND THE TRANSMISSION BY PLAINIFF~~ of the intelligence where and on what terms cigarettes may be purchased by its subscribers, by way of advertisements inserted in such newspaper, is perfectly legitimate and proper. Further, it must be regarded as settled that sale of cigarettes in a foreign state to a citizen of this state, and their carriage from said foreign state into this state and here delivered in original packages in consummation of such sale made in a foreign state is legitimate interstate commerce, which is beyond the power of the Legislature of this state to prohibit or unduly restrict or burden (citing cases). In other words, while the business of bartering, selling, or in any other manner disposing of cigarettes in this state, or the business of advertising in any manner by any one within this state of the business of selling or disposing of

cigarettes, is by the act in question properly prohibited, yet by reason of the exclusive control of Congress over interstate commerce it must, I think, be held, as the conduct of interstate commerce in cigarettes may not by a state be prohibited or unreasonably burdened, it follows, of necessity, the business of advertising such interstate commerce business, which advertising itself not only is a form of interstate commerce, but further adheres in the very conduct of the interstate cigarette business itself, is also beyond the power of the state to prohibit or make criminal and punish, and this for the reason it can not be thought possible to make the advertisement of a lawful business unlawful and punishable as a crime (citing cases)."

The Utah case last referred to was the subject of an annotation on the question "Statute or ordinance in relation to advertising as interference with interstate commerce" in 48 A.L.R. 563, which has been further supplemented in 57 A.L.R. 105, and 115 A.L.R. 952. The principles there enunciated are believed to support this appeal. In 48 A.L.R. 563, the conclusion is summarized thusly:

"The general principle as formulated in 5 R.C.L. 703 is that the state or municipality may, in the exercise of its police power, enact statutes and ordinances to protect the public health, morals, or safety, and public convenience, provided they are local in their character and affect interstate commerce incidentally only."

The Salt Lake Tribune case has been cited favorably or distinguished in all of the cases which have cited it subsequently. It furnished important authority for the holding in *Little v. Smith*, 257 P 962 (Kan) which held that their statute prohibiting the advertising of cigarettes and cigar-

ette papers in any newspaper or periodical published in Kansas is an undue interference with interstate commerce and otherwise violated the federal constitution and was therefore void.

It can not be contended that the sale of real property is not a lawful business and while such activity is not protected under the interstate commerce clause, it is not an activity that can be constitutionally prohibited and certainly is lawful in any event under our law. Since the activity itself is lawful and constitutionally protected, it must follow under the reasoning of the above authorities that the advertisement can not be constitutionally prohibited or unreasonably burdened. The sections in question would if lawfully applicable to appellant's assignor require its solicitors to (1) furnish \$1,000.00 bond conditioned on the solicitor conducting his business in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 2 of Title 61, U.C.A. 1953, (2) furnish letters of recommendation from three citizens owning real property here who have known such parties for three years, (3) successfully pass examinations in English, arithmetic, bookkeeping, real estate principles and practice, including the elements of land economics, real estate law, acquisition of titles, deeds, leases, mortgages, land contracts, agency contracts, liens, zoning, taxation, and the provisions of Chapter 2 of Title 61, U.C.A. 1953. Such requirements are, for the most part, wholly unrelated to the lawful business in which appellant's assignor is engaged. That such requirements would be an unreasonable burden on the commerce in which Union Interchange, Inc. is engaged can hardly be questioned.

### POINT III

SECS. 61-2-1, 61-2-2, AND 61-2-18, U.C.A. 1953, ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION TO THE EXTENT THAT THEY REQUIRE PLAINTIFF'S ASSIGNOR TO OBTAIN A REAL ESTATE BROKER'S LICENSE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

In the case of *United Interchange, Inc. v. Spellacy*, 144 Conn 647, 136 A 2(d) 801, the Supreme Court of Connecticut declared unconstitutional a statute designed specifically to require real estate licenses for the type of activity involved in this case. The plaintiff there was a publisher's representative in certain eastern states in a similar capacity to Union Interchange in certain western states and the facts are substantially identical to the instant case. There the court had this to say on the point in issue:

"We shall consider first the argument advanced with regard to due process and equal protection of the laws. Successfully to pass the test of constitutional validity in these respects, the act as amended to embrace these plaintiffs must be a proper exercise of the police power of the state. We have recently examined the basic principles applicable to police legislation regulating the conduct of business and professional activity. *State v. Gordon*, 143 Conn. 698, 705, 125 A.2d 477; *Calve Bros. Co. v. Norwald*, 143 Conn. 609, 612, 124 A. 2d 881; *Cyphers v. Allyn*, supra, 705; *Amsei v. Brooks*, 414 Conn. 288, 289, 106 A. 2d 152. The test is whether (1) some need for serving the public health, safety, or general welfare makes the regulatory legislation necessary or desirable, and (2) whether the legislation serves that need in a way which is not arbitrary, discriminatory, and confiscatory to an unreasonable

and unnecessary degree. In passing upon the need and in fashioning the method of serving it, the legislature under its police powers has a broad discretion. The limitation upon this discretion is drawn by the courts at that point where the regulatory measures fail to serve the public good, or serve it in a despotic way.

"The 1955 amendment prevents the plaintiffs from carrying on a lawful business unless they obtain real estate brokers' and salesmen's licenses. This is done by defining the activities of the plaintiffs as 'engaging in the real estate business' and requiring of them brokers' and salesmen's licenses in order to continue their activities. It is true that legislatures may define the terms used in their enactments and that courts are bound to accept their definitions. *First Federal Savings & Loan Assn. v. Connelly*, 142 Conn. 483, 489, 115 A. 2d 455, and cases cited. This rule extends only to the meaning to be given by the courts to the terms defined. It does not prevent the courts from examining the definition to see whether it logically and fairly describes the purported object of the definition.

"United's business is primarily advertising. It differs from newspaper and magazine publishers generally in the respect only that it limits the range of its advertising activities to specific types of property. Its purposes are to bring to the attention of prospective purchasers properties available for purchase and to the attention of prospective sellers buyers who are looking for particular kinds of properties. These are the fundamental purposes of all sales advertising. United's salesmen secure written contracts from property sellers or buyers to advertise in its publications. These salesmen assist in the preparation of these advertisements. The contracts and the advertisements are then submitted to United and thereafter published in 'Buyers Digest' and 'Brokers Bulletin.' It does not appear, however, that these salesmen advise as to price and for that



reason should have some knowledge of real estate values, nor that they direct or assist in the negotiations between the interested parties and so must know something about real estate incumbrances, taxes, zoning, and other regulations, and other similar factors involved in a real estate deal. Why then should the officers of United and its salesmen be required to take a written examination to establish their competency to carry on the real estate business with all of the detail which that involves? The terms of payment prescribed by United are such that its salesmen have no occasion to handle its customers' funds. Why then should its salesmen be required, in order to carry on its business, to post surety company bonds in substantial amounts, renewable annually?

"The only reason advanced for the need and design of this amendment is to prevent fraud, a purpose which has always been considered legitimate for the exercise of the police power when the facts warranted it. *Walp v. Mooar*, 76 Conn. 515, 521, 57 A. 277; *State v. Feingold*, 77 Conn. 326, 333, 59 A. 211. A legitimate purpose, however, cannot justify an unreasonable and unnecessarily arbitrary and discriminatory method of accomplishing it.

"The legislative power to regulate a business fraught with particular danger to the public is much wider than in the case of an ordinary lawful business such as advertising. 'In the one business no citizen has an absolute right to engage; in the other all citizens have a right and an equal right to engage. The difference is vital.' *State v. Conlon*, 65 Conn. 478, 486, 33 A 519; *State v. Porter*, 94 Conn. 639, 643, 110 A. 59; 30 Am. Jur. 278, 40. Where the business is a lawful one and involves no particular danger to the public, 'the regulation must not be unreasonably in excess of what is necessary to accomplish the supposed end; and in the case of a business in which all citizens have a right and an equal right to engage, the principle of equality

of rights must, in this State, be observed.' *State v. Porter*, supra, 645. This is not to imply that activities such as the plaintiffs carry on cannot, consistently with constitutional limitations, be regulated. That is not the issue in this case. Rather, the question for decision is whether this particular legislation is consistent with those limitations.

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