1959

J. Seal v. Alma E. Powell and Margeret E. Powell : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ACTIVITIES OF APPELLANT'S ASSIGNOR, UNION, FALL WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF REAL ESTATE BROKER CONTAINED IN SECTION 61-2-2, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953.

Chapter 2 of Title 61, Utah Code Annotated 1953, entitled Real Estate Brokers, is the law regulating real estate brokers and the licensing thereof. The regulation of real estate brokers, as defined, is an exercise of the police power for the protection of the public in the sale

of property. The Utah statute was enacted in 1921. See Chapter 110, Laws of Utah 1921. Part of the title of that act provided as follows:

“An Act to define real estate brokers and real estate salesmen; to provide for the regulation, supervision and licensing thereof; * * *.”

It is significant, we think, that the Legislature took pains to define “real estate broker” as they did, rather than to rely on what might be a commercial or trade definition. The Legislature was undoubtedly aware of the abuses and opportunities for abuse, sharp practices and cheating in the field of real estate selling and brokering. Prior to regulation there were numerous accounts of foul dealing by salesmen, brokers or “between men,” resulting in losses to property owners.

Section 61-2-1, U.C.A. 1953, provides as follows:

“It shall be unlawful for any person, copartnership or corporation to engage in the business, act in the capacity of, advertise or assume to act as a real estate broker or a real estate salesman within this state without first obtaining a license under the provisions of this chapter.”

The following Section 61-2-2 defines “real estate broker.” It is broad in its coverage:

“The term ‘real estate broker’ with the meaning of this chapter shall include all persons, partnerships, associations and corporations, foreign and domestic, who for another and for a fee, com-

mission or other valuable consideration, or who with the intention or in the expectation or upon the promise of receiving or collecting a fee, commission or other valuable consideration, sells, exchanges, purchases, rents or leases or negotiates the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of or offers or attempts or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of, *or lists or offers or attempts or agrees to list*, or auctions, or offers or attempts or agrees to collect rental for the use of real estate or who advertises, who buys or offers to buy, sells, or offers to sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or the improvements thereon or who collects or offers or attempts or agrees to collect rental for the use of real estate *or who advertises* or holds himself, itself or themselves out as engaged in the business of selling, exchanging, purchasing, renting or leasing real estate *or assists or directs in the procuring of prospects* or the negotiation or closing of any transaction which does or is calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or renting of any real estate. * * *

(We have emphasized those phrases which particularly bring the circumstances of this case within the definition.) We submit that the conduct of Union was within the definition of a real estate broker. Union is a corporation; its services are rendered for another and for a fee. Its activities include the following: It lists or attempts to list real estate; it advertises real estate; and it assists or directs in the procuring of prospects calculated to result in the sale of real estate. Certainly the conduct as shown by the facts stipulated to and as stated in appellant's brief fall within the definition as a matter of analysis.

The facts of the Anderson case, cited by appellant on page 5 of his brief, do not bear similarity to the facts here. There, the party merely made contacts with prospective sellers for a real estate broker. Nor is the language of the Anderson opinion helpful. This is not the case of a "stenographer" or "a person who introduces a real estate broker to one who may wish to deal with him." Here, Union's agents approach a prospective seller, advise him of their services and program, and solicit from him for a fee the business of advertising his property. They then obtain from the seller a written contract.

The Wisconsin case cited in appellant's brief at page 6, *Howard v. Heinig*, is not in point for the reason mentioned by appellant — that the wording of the Utah statute is broader.

POINT II

SECTIONS 61-2-1, 61-2-2 AND 61-2-18, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, DO NOT IMPOSE AN UNREASONABLE BURDEN ON INTERSTATE COMMERCE AS APPLIED TO THE CONDUCT AND ACTIVITIES OF UNION.

At this stage, it would be appropriate to state certain general rules as they apply to the application of the commerce clause. The power of Congress to regulate interstate commerce does not forestall all state action affecting interstate commerce. A state may legislate in respect of their local concerns even though such legislation may indirectly and incidentally affect interstate commerce. 15 C.J.S. 268, Commerce, Sec. 11; *Boston & M.R.R. v. Armburg*, 285 U.S. 234, 52 S.Ct. 336, 76 L.Ed. 729. A state, therefore, may in the exercise of its police powers legislate so as to affect commerce so long as the

interference does not impose an unreasonable burden on interstate commerce. Furthermore, a state may regulate the local activities of a corporation engaged in interstate commerce and the imposition of a reasonable expense thereof upon such a corporation is not a burden upon interstate commerce. 11 Am. Jur. 22, Commerce, Sec. 21; *Great Northern R. Co. v. Washington*, 300 U.S. 154, 57 S.Ct. 397, 81 L.Ed. 573. The case of *Slater v. Salt Lake City*, 206 P.2d 153, hereinafter discussed, states as follows:

“* * * It is not every incidental interference with interstate commerce that gives rise to a claim of unconstitutionality. Matters which are largely local in character can be dealt with by the state, even though the regulations, in some degree, interfere with the free flow of commerce between the states. * * *”

There are two answers to appellant's second contention. In the first place the application of this statute to the activities of Union would not constitute an unreasonable burden on interstate commerce. The force of the Utah law does not apply to the publication of Union's advertising journals. It applies only to the initial conduct of Union in their contacts with Utah residents who own real property located in the state. Utah's enforcement does not interfere with or affect the publication or distribution of Union's two national publications. Secondly, Union's activities in this state, as previously pointed out, are such that justify the exercise of state regulatory action under the police powers. Union's agents seek out prospective sellers; they solicit from them for a fee the business of advertising their proper-

tics; they attempt to have the seller sign contract forms. Such conduct does not constitute an isolated transaction.

Under Point II of appellant's brief, beginning at page 8, there are two cases cited: State of Utah v. Salt Lake Tribune Publishing Co. and Post Printing and Publishing Co. v. Brewster. Both cases involve state statutes which sought to prohibit the advertisement of cigarettes. The statutes were held unconstitutional on the ground that inasmuch as the shipment and sale of cigarettes across state lines constitutes interstate commerce, the legislation prohibiting the advertising of such commodities placed an unreasonable interference or burden on interstate commerce. These cases are not in point and are not analogous to the facts here. The state does not seek to prohibit the described conduct by Union; it merely desires to impose reasonable regulations.

The Utah statute, Section 61-2-6, prescribes the requirements for real estate brokers licenses. It is submitted that those requirements are not unreasonable under the circumstances concerning the methods employed by Union. It is noted that in the same section provision is made for the licensing of non-resident brokers. It provides:

61-2-6(c). "A non-resident of this state may become a real estate broker by conforming to all the provisions of this act, except that such non-resident broker regularly engaged in the real estate business as a vocation, and who maintains a definite place of business and is licensed in some other state, which offers the same privileges to the licensed brokers of this state, shall not be required to maintain a place of business within

this state. The commission shall recognize the license issued to a real estate broker by another state as satisfactorily qualifying him for license as a broker, provided that said non-resident broker has qualified for license in his own state by written examination and also that said other state permits licenses to be issued to licensed brokers in this state, without examination. * * *

These requirements do not impose a prohibition on Union's activities in Utah. Union may engage in the activities heretofore described by obtaining a license. It is significantly stated at the outset of Section 61-2-6:

"* * * With due regard for the paramount interest of the public, the board of real estate examiners may require and pass upon such proof as may be deemed necessary to determine the honesty, integrity, truthfulness, reputation and competency of each applicant; and shall require the applicant to pass an examination, and prescribe the passing grade, covering the fundamentals of the English language, arithmetic, bookkeeping, real estate law, acquisition of titles, deeds, leases, mortgages, land contracts, agency contracts, liens, zoning, taxation, and the provisions of this chapter. * * *

POINT III

SECTIONS 61-2-1, 61-2-2 AND 61-2-18, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, ARE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

A state under its police powers has the right to regulate any business, occupation or trade in order to protect the public health, morals and welfare. 33 Am. Jur. 336, Licenses, Sec. 17. A state may under its general police powers regulate the business of brokers, including

real estate brokers. 12 C.J.S. 13, Brokers, Sec. 8; 9 Am. Jur. 993, Brokers, Sec. 7.

It is conceded, as previously stated, that the activities and conduct of Union's agents are not precisely identical with the commonly accepted functions of a real estate broker or salesman under a trade or commercial definition. However, the definition contained in the Utah Code, Section 61-2-2, quoted above, is sufficiently broad to include those who list or attempt to list properties, advertise, or assist in the procuring of prospects.

Appellant cites and relies heavily on two New England cases, *United Interchange Inc. v. Spellacy* and *United Interchange Inc. of Mass. v. Harding*. It is noted that in both of these cases the original statutes defining the practice of real estate brokering were recently amended, broadening them to include the activities and methods of operation of Union. The Utah statute is sufficiently broad without amendment to include the activities of Union.

The *Spellacy* case does not quarrel with the principle that real estate brokers may be regulated or that the activities of Union may be regulated "consistently with constitutional limitations." The basis of that decision is that the type of regulation exercised against the activities of Union is not constitutional; that it is unreasonable to require these salesmen to take written examinations, to furnish a corporate bond and to pay substantial fees. (In Utah the fee to take the examinations is \$10 and the license fee is \$20. The renewal fee is \$10.)

Consider the activities of Union and its salesmen.

They contact Utah citizens and solicit contracts from them relating to their real estate. They aid and advise them in drafting their proposed advertisement. Upon signing the contract, the seller is obligated to pay the stated fee or commission. The matter is then out of the seller's hands. Whether the property is sold or not, he must pay the fee. He must rely on the good faith of the company to publish the advertisement as contracted. It is submitted that the New England cases failed to take note of the real potential harm to the public from these activities. Because Union's agents approach prospective sellers of real property, represent that they advertise only real estate and propose to charge a fee or commission, many sellers may reasonably believe that no fee will be charged unless the property is sold. It is only reasonable to assume that the high pressure salesman in his eagerness to close a deal, either intentionally or inadvertently, leaves the property owner with the impression that only in the event the property is sold will the fee be charged.

The licensing regulations of the Utah statute are not unreasonable as applied to these activities. It is noted that Section 61-2-6, U.C.A. 1953, vests in the Board of Real Estate Examiners certain discretionary powers as to the type and content of examinations to be passed by applicants. The board may, therefore, vary the examinations that are taken by the various classes of brokers or salesmen to conform to the type of broker or salesman applicant.

POINT IV

SECTIONS 61-2-1, 62-2-2 AND 61-2-18, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, AS THEY APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE ARE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS BEING IN VIOLATION OF THE PRINCIPLE OF FREEDOM OF THE PRESS.

The enforcement of the real estate laws as applied to Union's activities does not constitute violations of the guarantee of freedom of the press.

The Harding case, upon which appellant relies primarily in support of his fourth point, in turn cites three United States Supreme Court cases as support. None of those cases support appellant's proposition as applied to the facts of this case, and we submit do not support the holding in the Harding case. In *Lovell v. City of Griffin*, the ordinance in question as stated by the court "... absolutely prohibits the distribution of any literature of any kind . . ." The ordinance was composed as a direct prohibition of the distribution of the printed matter. In *Near v. Minnesota*, the Minnesota statute prohibited the producing, publishing, circulating or selling of an obscene, lewd, malicious, scandalous, etc. publication. In *Grosjean v. American Press Co.*, the Louisiana statute imposed a 2% license tax on the privilege of engaging in the publication business. The tax was based on the extent of the circulation of the publication. The laws in each of these cases imposed direct prohibitions and burdens on the publication and circulation of the printed matter.

The Utah statute imposes no restraint or prohibition on Union's publication or circulation of its periodicals. The statute merely seeks to impose reasonable regula-

tions on persons who come into the State of Utah and do business with Utah residents in the listing, advertising or attempts to procure buyers of real estate. Nor is the license fee a tax upon the publication or circulation. The regulation of Union's activities may have some slight affect on appellant's sources of revenue. However, the affect on appellant's publication and circulation of its periodicals is so remote and obscure as to be of no consequence.

It is submitted that the Maine Supreme Judicial Court erred in holding that governmental regulation of the activities of Union violated the guarantee of freedom of the press. It is an established principle that the constitutional guarantee of freedom of the press does not impose restraints on governmental regulation of commercial activities such as commercial advertising. 16 C.J.S. 1123, Constitutional Law, Sec. 213(8)c. See also *Valentine v. Christensen*, 316 U.S. 52, 62 S. Ct. 920; *Slater v. Salt Lake City* (1949 Utah), 206 P.2d 153; *Pittsford v. City of Los Angeles* (California), 122 P.2d 535; and *Reuben H. Donnelly Corp. v. City of Bellevue* (Ky.), 140 S.W.2d 1024. In the Slater case, supra, a city ordinance made it unlawful for any person to peddle, offer for sale, etc. a variety of items, including magazine subscriptions upon any of the streets of Salt Lake City without having a license. The ordinance was attacked as being unconstitutional. This Court upheld the ordinance and said that:

“* * * the right of free speech cannot be used as a shield to protect commercial activities carried on in streets or on sidewalks.”

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the holding of the trial court should be sustained.

RUSSELL C. HARRIS
Attorney for Respondent

WALTER L. BUDGE
Attorney General

GARY L. THEURER
Assistant Attorney General
Attorneys for State of Utah